THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2013-CP-40-00233

---

Melinda Richmond, #331874,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001289

---

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

William M. Saltzman  
Merritt, Webb, Wilson & Caruso, PLLC  
Post Office Box 24109  
Columbia, SC 29224  
(803) 255-0655  
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:  
Alan Wilson, Attorney General  
J. Clayton Mitchell, Assistant Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Attorneys for Respondent

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Circuit Court err in holding that Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proof of showing ineffective counsel, where trial counsel proceeded with the trial while suffering from acute sinusitis and laryngitis, on medication, and how Petitioner was prejudiced as a result?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted during the July 2007 term of the Richland County Grand Jury for Murder. App. 1383. Applicant was represented by Carolyn R. (Gripp) Sutherland, Casey M. Secor and Deon O'Neil, Esquires. On November 10, 2008, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Edward Miller. App. 1-1192. Petitioner's lead counsel, Counsel Sutherland, suffered from acute sinusitis and laryngitis throughout the trial, and was medicated to treat her sickness. App. 1194; 1255:16-1256:4. Counsel Sutherland had difficulty speaking, had no tone of voice and was in great pain. App. 1249:17-1250:4; 1258:5-11. Counsel Sutherland's co-counsels were not prepared to handle the role of lead counsel. App. 1280:10-12; 1294:23-1295:1. Petitioner motioned on numerous occasions for a continuance or mistrial in order for Counsel Sutherland to have time to regain her health. App. 279:21-295:6; 358:13-13; 1062:11-20; 1177:8-1178:4. However, the motions were denied. *Id.* Counsel Sutherland then proceeded with the trial while suffering from acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and on medication.

On November 14, 2008, Petitioner was convicted of murder and was sentenced to forty (40) years' imprisonment. App. 1190:16-22. Petitioner subsequently filed a Motion for New Trial based on the trial court's failure to grant a continuance or mistrial due to Counsel Sutherland's poor health. App. 1195-1199. The trial court denied the Motion for a New Trial. App. 1219. Petitioner appealed her conviction and it was dismissed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. State v. Richmond, Opinion No. 2012-UP-418 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 11, 2012).

Petitioner then brought this action seeking post-conviction relief ("PCR") in January 2013. App. 1220. The Application for PCR was amended and supplemented on July 29, 2013.

App. 1234-1238. Petitioner alleged that she was being held in custody unlawfully for the following reasons:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel in proceeding with the trial while sick with acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and on medication.
2. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel in failing to brief the trial court's denial of defense counsel's requests for a mistrial or a continuance due to lead Counsel Sutherland's sickness. App. 1234-1238.

On April 1, 2015, a PCR evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 1239-1335. Counsel Sutherland, Counsel Secor, Counsel O'Neil, Assistant Appellate Defender Wanda Carter, Petitioner and Assistant Solicitor Anna R. Good testified at the hearing. Id. Counsel Sutherland testified how she spent countless hours preparing for the trial and how she was the most prepared person to defend Petitioner. App. 1246:3-12; 1246:25-1247:10. As lead counsel, she was tasked with preparing the trial strategy, questioning the critical witnesses and presenting the closing argument. App. 1260:12-14; App. 1290:21-22

Counsel Sutherland then explained how she was recovering from a bout of the flu by the start of the trial on November 10, 2008, but on November 11, 2008 she had a very sore voice, a sore throat, a sinus infection and it hurt to speak. App. 1249:17-1250:20. Court was not held on November 11, 2008 because it was a holiday, so on November 12, 2008, Petitioner motioned for a mistrial or continuance to allow time for Counsel Sutherland to recover. App. 1252:2-4. However, the motion was denied because the victim's family was in attendance from out-of-state, the jury was sworn, witness testimony had already begun and Petitioner had two other attorneys who could handle the case. App. 1252:5-18. Despite her inability to speak with any tone of voice and the pain she was enduring, Counsel Sutherland decided to proceed in trying the case. App. 1252:19-1253:4.

After having her pain get worse and her voice diminish, Counsel Sutherland left the trial on the afternoon November 12, 2008 for approximately two hours in order to see a physician

about her condition. App. 1253:25-1254:19; 1255:3-11. Counsel Sutherland's physician diagnosed her with acute sinusitis and laryngitis, where she was instructed to rest her vocal cords for two days or else the laryngitis would worsen. App. 1194. Counsel Sutherland was also prescribed steroids and antibiotics. App. 1256:1-3. Upon returning from the doctor's office, Counsel Sutherland's voice was so inaudible that whenever she tried facing a witness or the jury, she was instructed to turn back to the court reporter because the court reporter could not hear her, or had to read her lips or needed to be closer to a microphone. App. 1257:14-19. Counsel Sutherland then proceeded in questioning ten witnesses and made the closing argument. App. 236-1111.

Counsel Sutherland described her own voice during the trial as a "whisper" where "[t]here was little to no inflection. And there was no ability to project [her] voice." App. 1259:11. When asked about the importance of being able to have a full range of voice in a trial, Counsel Sutherland stressed how it was "...extremely important[]" and how "[t]here's not much you can do to represent your client if you don't have a voice in trial. The witnesses spoke over [her]. [She] had no control over the witnesses. Cross-examination was very ineffective, oftentimes interrupted by either the court reporter or the witness themselves, asking [her] to...repeat or speak up..." App. 1253:11-16. The presentation of Counsel Sutherland's closing argument, given her lack of a voice, was as "...ineffective as the rest of the trial." App. 1260:17-18. Counsel Sutherland believed "...it would have been a very different trial had [she] had a voice." App. 1259:6-7.

Counsels Secor and O'Neil both corroborated how Counsel Sutherland's voice sounded like a "hoarse whisper" with no tone throughout the trial. App. 1276:5-11; 1292:1-3. They also agreed that Counsel Sutherland was the most prepared person to defend Petitioner and both Counsel Secor and Counsel O'Neil were not prepared to take on Counsel Sutherland's role as

lead counsel in the event she could not continue the case due to her health. App. 1274:23-1275:4; 1280:10-12. Counsel Secor was also practicing law for only one year at the time of the trial. App. 1271:17-20.

Petitioner testified how Counsel Sutherland was in poor condition throughout the trial. App. 1310:1-1311:12. Petitioner felt concerned, scared and disadvantaged that Counsel Sutherland was trying the case with such an illness. App. 1312:18-1312:21.

The Circuit Court denied the PCR application and filed the Order on May 8, 2015. App. 1366. The Circuit Court found that Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proving Counsel Sutherland was ineffective and failed to show any resulting prejudice because Petitioner "...did not present any evidence that the result of the trial would have been different but for counsel's errors." App. 1380. The Circuit Court found the "...affidavits submitted by the juror on the case who indicated that they heard and could follow Counsel Sutherland throughout the trial to be persuasive on the issue." App. 1213; 1215; 1380.

A Notice of Appeal for the PCR application was timely filed and served on June 17, 2015. Petitioner now seeks a Writ of Certiorari to review this denial.

#### ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in holding that Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proof in showing trial counsel was ineffective by proceeding with the trial while suffering from acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and on medication, and that Petitioner was prejudiced as a result. The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution requires a criminal defendant to receive effective assistance of counsel. United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648 (1984); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, the applicant must

show that 1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms, and 2) the applicant was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance where "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006).

In certain circumstances "prejudice is presumed" because prejudice "is so likely that case-by-case inquiry...is not worth the cost." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692 (citing Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658 (1984)). There are certain instances of presumed prejudice, "when although counsel is available to assist the accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial." Nance v. Ozmint, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880, 367 S.C. 547 (2006) (quoting Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659 (1984)).

"On appeal, the PCR court's ruling should be upheld if it is supported by any evidence of probative value in the record." Speaks v. State, 377 S.C. 396, 399, 660 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2008). "In reviewing the PCR court's decision, an appellate court is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support that decision." Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010). "An appellate court must affirm the PCR court's decision when its findings are supported by any evidence of probative value." Scott v. State, 334 S.C. 248, 252, 513 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1999). "However, an appellate court will not affirm the decision when it is not supported by any probative evidence." Id.

Here, Petitioner met her burden of proof by showing trial counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and Petitioner was presumed to be prejudiced by such deficiency to the extent of there being a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The Circuit Court's ruling was not supported by probative evidence.

### *Deficiency*

Petitioner provided sufficient evidence that Counsel Sutherland was deficient in proceeding with the trial while suffering from acute sinusitis and laryngitis, while medicated. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel Sutherland testified how she could only speak at a whisper, she was in pain, had no tone of voice and had difficulty controlling witnesses as a result. App. 1249:17-1250:4; 1258:5-11; 1253:11-16. The co-counsels for the defense, Counsels Secor and O'Neil, both testified how they were not prepared to handle the tasks that were assigned to Counsel Sutherland and had difficulty hearing or understanding Counsel Sutherland throughout the trial. App. 1280:10-12; 1294:23-1295:1.

Counsel Sutherland spent numerous hours to prepare for the case, she was to question ten critical witnesses and perform the closing argument. App. 1248:3-12. Counsel Sutherland's assignments were vital to the success of the case. However, her inability to communicate effectively, control witnesses, or speak with any inflection rendered her deficient in trying such a serious and emotional murder case. Counsel Sutherland believed "...it would have been a very different trial had [she] had a voice." App. 1259:6-7.

Proceeding to trial with acute sinusitis and laryngitis is deficient under prevailing professional norms. Petitioner's trial counsels requested several continuances and mistrials because they knew Counsel Sutherland was, and would be deficient in her presentation of Petitioner's case while dealing with acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and medicated throughout the trial. Petitioner also corroborated how Counsel Sutherland was in poor condition throughout the trial. App. 1310:1-1311:12. Petitioner was concerned, scared and felt disadvantaged that Counsel Sutherland was trying the case with such an illness. App. 1312:18-1312:21. Even opposing

counsel, Anna Good, testified that she would have asked for a continuance if she was dealing with laryngitis in a case, just as Petitioner's counsels requested. App. 1324:24-1325:4.

The trial court may have found that the "...affidavits submitted by the juror on the case who indicated that they heard and could follow Counsel Sutherland throughout the trial to be persuasive on the issue." App. 1213; 1215; 1380. However, the affidavits were submitted by alternate jurors, not the actual jurors, and those affidavits were not notarized. App. 1213; 1215.

Counsel Sutherland should not have tried the case with acute sinusitis and laryngitis. She could barely speak, she was in pain and she was unable to communicate effectively. Counsel Sutherland was supposed to be Petitioner's voice, but Counsel Sutherland had no voice. Petitioner was significantly disadvantaged by Counsel Sutherland's poor health condition. Accordingly, Petitioner did provide sufficient evidence that Counsel Sutherland's performance in the trial was deficient under prevailing professional norms.

#### *Prejudice*

Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. In Nance v. Ozmint, prejudice was presumed when a lead counsel was suffering from health problems and co-counsel was inexperienced or unprepared to handle the role of lead counsel. Nance, 626 S.E.2d 878, 367 S.C. 547 (2006). Here, just as in Nance, Petitioner was disadvantaged because her lead counsel, Counsel Sutherland, was in ill health with acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and on medication. App. 1194; 1256:1-3 Also, the co-counsels, Counsels Secor and O'Neil, were not prepared to take on the role of lead counsel. App. 1194; 1256:1-3. Further, Counsel Secor was practicing law for only one year at the time of the trial. App. 1271:17-10. Petitioner is presumed to be prejudiced because even though Counsel Sutherland was available to assist Petitioner during the trial and was a competent attorney, the

likelihood that Counsel Sutherland could provide effective assistance, given her illness throughout the trial, was so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial. There is also reasonable probability that, had Counsel Sutherland had the ability to speak with more bravado, use the tone of her voice, allow the jurors to hear her with more clarity, have the ability to control the witnesses and not have her voice be such a distraction to the case, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Therefore, Petitioner was prejudiced. Accordingly, Petitioner did provide sufficient evidence to show Petitioner was prejudiced and the Circuit Court erred in finding otherwise.

#### CONCLUSION

Petitioner asks this Court to grant the petition for a writ of certiorari because Petitioner met the burden of proof that trial counsel was ineffective by proceeding with the trial while suffering from acute sinusitis and laryngitis, and on medication, and that Petitioner was prejudiced as a result.