STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

**SEP 12 2016**

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 001289  
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-40-00233

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

MELINDA RICHMOND, #331874,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Richland County. Petitioner was indicted at the July 2007 term of the Richland County Grand Jury for Murder (2007-GS-40-4073). (App. p. 1382-83). Petitioner was represented by Carolyn R. (Gripp) Sutherland, Casey M. Secor, and E. Deon O'Neil, Esquires. Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. Petitioner was convicted as indicted by the jury on November 14, 2008. Judge Miller sentenced Petitioner to forty (40) years' imprisonment. A notice of appeal was filed and an Anders<sup>1</sup> appeal was perfected. (App. p. 1352-65). The court affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Richmond, Opinion No. 2012-UP-418 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 11, 2012). The Remittitur was sent on July 27, 2012.

Petitioner filed her application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on January 11, 2013 (2013-CP-40-00233). (App. p. 1220-26). Respondent filed a Return on May 8, 2013. (App. p. 1227-33). A hearing was held on April 1, 2015. Petitioner was represented by William M Saltzman, Esquire. The State was represented by J. Clayton Mitchell of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. An Order of Dismissal was issued by the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith on May 18, 2015. (App. p. 1366-81).

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal on June 17, 2015, and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on April 27, 2016. This Return follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**Since Petitioner has not identified specific instances of ineffective assistance of counsel, trial counsel cannot be deemed deficient just for being ill where she and the defense team made numerous continuance motions and motions for a mistrial.**

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in failing to grant relief in light of how ill Counsel Sutherland was during the trial. Specifically, she argues Counsel Sutherland's illness so affected her performance at trial that she was ineffective. She also argues that prejudice should be presumed. First, Petitioner has not pointed out any specific instances of deficiency. Second, Petitioner's argument essentially raises an issue that was ripe for direct appeal in that Judge Miller erred in denying the numerous continuance motions and motions for a mistrial.

### How The Issue Was Raised Below

Petitioner was called to trial on November 10, 2008. (App. p. 1). Counsel Sutherland<sup>2</sup> was Petitioner's lead counsel and represented her from her bond hearing through the trial. (App. p. 1247). As the trial loomed closer, Counsel O'Neil and Counsel Secor were assigned to Petitioner's case. (App. p. 1248-49). Counsel Sutherland had the flu the week before the trial was set to begin but was recovering. (App. p. 1249). On Monday, November 10, 2008, the jury was selected, pre-trial motions were heard, counsel gave opening statements, and a few State witnesses were presented. (App. p. 1-279). The next day was a holiday and the court reconvened on Wednesday, November 11, 2008, where Counsel Sutherland's illness took a turn for the worse. (App. p. 1251). The defense team then made motions for a mistrial and in the alternative a continuance. (App. p. 279-92; 1252). Counsel O'Neil argued that since Counsel Sutherland was lead counsel and could barely speak above a whisper that a mistrial should be granted or the case should be continued. (App. p. 279-92). Judge Miller denied these motions, but instructed the

---

<sup>2</sup> Carolyn Sutherland's maiden name is Gripp which is how she is noted in the transcript.

jury that if they were unable to hear what Counsel Sutherland was saying then they should raise their hand to let the court know. (App. p. 296).

After three more witnesses testified, Counsel Secor renewed the motions for a mistrial or a continuance. (App. p. 351-52). He argued that the court reporter had asked Counsel Sutherland to speak up because she could not hear what she was saying. (App. p. 351). Judge Miller responded that he had figured out how to control the volume on the microphones and would increase the volume when necessary. (App. p. 352). After arguments over the admissibility of photographs, Counsel O'Neil stated for the record the basis of the motion for a mistrial and a continuance. (App. p. 358-360). Counsel O'Neil then noted that the defense had hired a private court reporter in hopes of ensuring an audio recording of the trial was available. (App. p. 359-60). Judge Miller did not allow the private court reporter to transcribe the proceedings. (App. p. 360).

Counsel Sutherland scheduled and attended a doctor's appointment later that afternoon in hopes of receiving treatment to help her condition. (App. p. 360). The trial proceeded in Counsel Sutherland's absence. (App. p. 1255). She was diagnosed with acute sinusitis and laryngitis and was advised not to use her voice. (App. p. 555; 1255). The defense again renewed their motions for a mistrial and a continuance which were denied. (App. p. 555). After the State rested on Friday, the defense renewed their motions relating to Counsel Sutherland's illness. (App. p. 959-60). After the jury returned a guilty verdict, the defense again renewed all motions and objections relating to the illness. (App. p. 1177).

Finally, the defense filed a post-trial motion requesting a new trial based upon Counsel Sutherland's illness and Judge Miller's adverse rulings regarding a mistrial or continuance. (App. p. 1195-1209). The motion argued that Petitioner's constitutional and due process rights were

violated. Specifically, the motion argued that Judge Miller's ruling impeded Petitioner's ability to demonstrate prejudice by not allowing a private court reporter to transcribe and make an audio recording of the trial and that his rulings were an abuse of discretion. Seven affidavits from employees at the public defender's office were attached to the motion. (App. p. 1201-09). The State submitted a response with affidavits including two from alternate jurors who stated that they were able to hear Counsel Sutherland throughout the trial. (App. p. 1210-18). Judge Miller issued an order denying the request for a new trial. (App. p. 1219).

#### Analysis

First, Petitioner did not identify any specific grounds for relief that were caused by Counsel Sutherland's illness. She argues that Counsel Sutherland should be deemed ineffective and prejudice should be presumed because of her illness. Petitioner has failed to point out any specific instance where Counsel Sutherland's representation fell below the standard of reasonable care. To the contrary, Counsel Sutherland and the defense team as a whole made numerous objections and presented a strong challenge to the State's case by attempting to show that codefendant Tenisha McClinton was responsible for the murder. Petitioner argues that because Counsel Sutherland was ill, her presentation to the jury suffered because she was unable to speak with "more bravado, use the tone of her voice, allow the jurors to hear her with more clarity, have the ability to control the witnesses and not have her voice be such a distraction to the case." (PWC, p. 9). These arguments do not support grounds for relief even if taken as true. See United States v. Eyman, 313 F.3d 741 (2nd Cir. 2002) (holding that an Applicant must point to specific errors or omissions in the conduct of the trial that were the product of the illness). While ill and likely not able to argue the case with as much vigor as she would have hoped, Counsel Sutherland was not deficient in her representation just for being ill.

Prejudice should not be presumed in this case. In Cronic<sup>3</sup>, the court identified three distinct situations in which a presumption of prejudice is appropriate: 1) when the defendant is completely denied counsel “at a critical stage of his trial”, 2) if there has been a constructive denial of counsel, and 3) “when although counsel is available to assist the accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial.” Absent these narrow circumstances of presumed prejudice, defendants must show actual prejudice under a normal Strickland analysis. Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 552, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2009). To prove actual prejudice Applicants must “show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052. Here, prejudice should not be presumed. Petitioner was not denied counsel at any critical stage of her trial. Being ill does not rise to the level of a constructive denial of counsel because Petitioner was represented by two other competent attorneys throughout the trial. It’s noteworthy that Judge Miller ensured that no witnesses assigned to Counsel Sutherland testified during her brief trip to the doctor. (App. p. 425-555). Finally, Petitioner’s case does not apply to the third circumstance as the illness of lead counsel was the crux of her allegation.

Second, Petitioner raises the issue of whether Petitioner was ineffective in proceeding to trial with an illness. Counsel Sutherland and the defense team made the proper objections with regards to her illness. It is clear from the record that Counsel Sutherland was ill; but it is also clear from the record that numerous motions for a mistrial and a continuance were made at the proper junctures and were denied by Judge Miller. (App. p. 279-92; 352; 358; 555; 840; 1177). Applicants cannot raise issues that were preserved for direct appeal in PCR. See S.C. Code Ann.

---

<sup>3</sup> United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 658(1984).

§ 17-27-20(b) (1985); Simmons v. State, 264 S.C. 417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1974) (Post-conviction relief is not a substitute for a direct appeal.). Here, this issue was fully litigated at the trial level. Petitioner did not present the PCR court with any alternative arguments or strategy that should have been pursued by defense counsel in an attempt to combat Counsel Sutherland's illness. In short, defense counsel did all they could to ensure Petitioner received a fair trial despite her lead counsel being under the weather.

Further, all defense attorneys agreed at the PCR hearing that the issue of whether Judge Miller erred in failing to grant a mistrial or continuance was preserved for direct appeal. (App. p. 1262-63; 1265-66; 1284; 1287-88; 1297; 1304). The proper way to assert this issue would be to allege appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise the issue on direct appeal. This was done below. The PCR court ruled that Petitioner had not met her burden in proving appellate counsel was ineffective. Appellate Counsel Carter concluded that the issue regarding Counsel Sutherland's illness was preserved and lacked merit which is why she did not raise it in her brief. (App. p. 1304). Counsel Carter actually filed an Anders brief as she did not believe any issues were meritorious. Respondent notes the PCR court's ruling is further supported by the fact that the court of appeals conducted an Anders review of the case and concluded that no arguable issue existed for direct appeal. It is also noteworthy that Petitioner, herself, filed a *pro se* Anders brief which argued that Judge Miller erred in failing to grant a mistrial or continuance because of Counsel Sutherland's illness. (Supp. App. p. 1-5). Therefore, the issue of whether Judge Miller erred in denying the numerous motions for a mistrial and continuance was preserved but was not a meritorious issue for direct appeal.